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INTRODUCTION 

LabMD engaged in fundamental, systemic security failures that put at risk consumers’ 

sensitive personal and health information.  Compl. ¶¶ 6-11, 17-21.  As a result of LabMD’s 

failures—which continued unabated for years—a file containing the sensitive personal 

information of approximately 9,300 consumers was shared to a public file sharing network 

without being detected by LabMD.  Id. ¶¶ 10(g), 17-20.  The sensitive information included 

consumers’ names, dates of birth, Social Security numbers, information relating to laboratory 

tests conducted, and health insurance policy numbers.  Id. ¶ 19.  As alleged in the Complaint, 

these are exactly the kinds of personal data used to perpetrate identity theft.  Id. ¶¶ 6-7, 9, 12, 21.  

Indeed, LabMD documents containing consumers’ sensitive personal information were found in 

the possession of identity thieves in Sacramento, California.  Id. ¶ 21.  LabMD’s failure to adopt 

reasonable and appropriate measures to protect consumers’ sensitive personal information caused 

or is likely to cause substantial consumer injury that is not reasonably avoidable by consumers 

and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  Compl. ¶ 22; see 

15 U.S.C. § 45(n). 

Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss argues that, even if the Commission were to accept the 

Complaint’s allegations as true—which the Commission must do when considering a Motion to 

Dismiss—the Commission should nonetheless dismiss the Complaint because: (1) Congress 

authorized the Department of Health and Human Services to regulate sensitive personal health 

information; (2) the FTC lacks jurisdiction to protect consumers from businesses’ unfair data 

security practices; and (3) LabMD could not have known that it was required to act reasonably in 

securing consumers’ sensitive personal information.  In the alternative, Respondent asserts that 

the Commission should grant its Motion to Dismiss because the acts and practices alleged in the 
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Complaint do not affect interstate commerce, and because the Complaint does not comply with 

the Commission’s pleading requirements.  These arguments are all without merit, and the 

Commission should deny Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss. 

This matter fits squarely within the Federal Trade Commission’s (“FTC”) broad mandate 

under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”) to protect consumers from 

“unfair or deceptive acts or practices,” including unfair data security practices.  15 U.S.C. 

§ 45(a).  LabMD misconstrues legal precedent in an attempt to read into the Act exceptions to 

the Commission’s unfairness authority that do not exist and run counter to the Commission’s 

charge to protect consumers from a wide range of existing and developing threats.  Indeed, 

Respondent’s position would jeopardize the very purpose of the FTC Act, which Congress 

designed to empower the Commission to protect consumers from a broad array of unfair and 

deceptive practices in the marketplace. 

The FTC’s unremarkable position that companies should engage in “reasonable” 

practices to prevent unauthorized access to personal information (Compl. ¶ 22) is premised on 

Congress’s mandate that the Commission find a likelihood of substantial consumer injury and 

consider the countervailing benefits before exercising its unfairness authority.  15 U.S.C § 45(n).  

The FTC pursues unfairness actions where the likelihood of substantial consumer injury, which 

is not reasonably avoidable, is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to 

competition.  Id.  In pursuing its mandate to protect consumers from unfair information security 

practices, the Commission has been consistent and clear about how it enforces Section 5 of the 

FTC Act in data security matters:  It applies Section 5’s cost-benefit analysis, pursuing cases 

where the likelihood of consumer injury resulting from a firm’s poor data security practices is 

not outweighed by the countervailing benefits of forgoing improved security practices. 
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Because the Complaint pleads specific facts, which, if proven, establish that LabMD is 

liable for committing an unfair practice under Section 5, the Complaint survives Respondent’s 

Motion to Dismiss, and the Commission should permit this action to move forward in the public 

interest of protecting consumers and their sensitive personal information. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss is brought pursuant to Commission Rule 3.22(a), 16 

C.F.R. §3.22(a).  Resp. Mot. 1.  Respondent’s Motion should be regarded as a motion to dismiss 

for failure to state a claim, and the Commission should apply the standard of Rule 12(b)(6) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  In re S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry, Docket No. 9311, 2004 WL 

1814165, at *3 (F.T.C. July 28, 2004) (citation omitted).  This standard requires Respondent to 

“show that Complaint Counsel can prove no set of facts that would entitle them to relief.”  Id.  

Moreover, in “evaluating whether a complaint withstands a motion to dismiss, the Commission 

must accept as true all of the complaint’s well-pled factual allegations and must construe all 

inferences in the light most favorable to Complaint Counsel.”  Id. (citation omitted).  The 

Commission should thus deny Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss.  

ARGUMENT 

The Complaint pleads facts sufficient to state a claim that Respondent engaged in unfair 

practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.  Specifically, the Complaint 

alleges that Respondent failed to employ reasonable and appropriate measures to prevent 

unauthorized access to consumers’ personal information.  Compl. ¶¶ 8, 10-11, 13-20, 22.  

Respondent’s conduct in this regard caused or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers.  

Id. ¶¶ 6-7, 9, 12, 17-20, 22; see also ¶ 21.  This harm to consumers is neither reasonably 

avoidable, id. ¶¶ 12, 22, nor outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition, 

id. ¶¶ 11, 20, 22.  The Commission’s consideration of Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss should 
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thus end here.  See In re S.C. State Bd. Of Dentistry, 2004 WL 1814165, at *3. 

I. SECTION 5 OF THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT PROTECTS 
CONSUMERS AGAINST UNFAIR DATA SECURITY PRACTICES AFFECTING 
CONSUMERS’ PERSONAL INFORMATION 

Neither sector-specific statutes applicable to Respondent nor statutes applicable to other 

industries abrogate the FTC’s data security jurisdiction under the FTC Act.  Likewise, the 

Commission’s past attempt to extend a different statute to attorneys is irrelevant to its general 

unfairness authority.   

A. FTC and HHS Have Concurrent and Complementary Jurisdiction to Protect 
Consumers’ Personal Information 

Neither the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) nor the 

Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) provide the 

Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), as Respondent contends, with exclusive 

authority over the security of consumers’ sensitive personal health information.  Rather, the 

statutory framework provides the FTC and HHS with concurrent and complementary jurisdiction 

to protect consumers’ sensitive heath information. 

Congress charged HHS with improving “the efficiency and effectiveness of the health 

care system by, among other things, establishing “standards with respect to the privacy of 

individually identifiable health information.”  42 U.S.C. § 1320d; HIPAA, Pub. L 104-191, 1996 

HR 3103, §§ 261, 264.  The FTC has a broader but complementary mandate to prevent deceptive 

or unfair practices, including the failure to provide reasonable and appropriate security for 

personal information.  See 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  The two agencies also have complementary 

remedies.  The FTC may seek equitable monetary and injunctive relief under Section 5, see 15 

U.S.C. §§ 45(b), 53(b), while HHS has the authority to seek civil penalties under HIPAA and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder, see 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-5; 45 C.F.R. § 160, Subpart D. 
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The FTC and HHS each have prosecutorial discretion to determine when to bring an 

enforcement action.  Exercising that discretion, the two agencies have coordinated enforcement 

actions that involve the failure to protect sensitive personal health information covered by 

HIPAA.  See In re Rite Aid Corp., FTC File No. 072-3121 (July 27, 2010) (settlement agreement 

resolving coordinated FTC-HHS information security investigations); In re CVS Caremark 

Corp., FTC File No. 072-3119 (Feb. 18, 2009) (same). 

1. Canons of Construction Do Not Strip FTC of Jurisdiction 

Respondent’s argument that HHS has exclusive jurisdiction to secure consumers’ 

sensitive personal health information relies on a misinterpretation of a canon of statutory 

construction, in which Respondent suggests that specific statutes necessarily repeal general ones.  

Resp. Mot. 10-11.  As explained in RadLAX Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, the 

canon applies when necessary to avoid contradiction or superfluity, neither of which Respondent 

can identify here.  132 S. Ct. 2065, 2071 (2012).  By contrast, “when two statutes are capable of 

co-existence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed congressional intention to the 

contrary, to regard each as effective.”  Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 551 (1974); see also 

Radzanower v. Touche Ross & Co., 426 U.S. 148, 155 (1976) (“The statutory provisions at issue 

here cannot be said to be in ‘irreconcilable conflict’ in the sense that there is a positive 

repugnancy between them or that they cannot mutually coexist.  It is not enough to show that the 

two statutes produce differing results when applied to the same factual situation, for that no more 

than states the problem”).  HIPAA does not conflict, irreconcilably or otherwise, with the 

consumer protection mandate of the FTC Act, and therefore both statutes should be regarded as 

effective.  
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HIPAA and the HITECH Act provide HHS with tools and methods that complement the 

FTC’s authority to protect consumers’ personal information, such as APA rulemaking authority,1 

the ability to seek civil penalties,2 and the ability to pursue these actions without needing to 

establish the likelihood of “substantial injury” under the FTC Act.  The application of Section 5 

of the FTC Act does not render HIPAA and the HITECH Act superfluous. 

2. Neither HIPAA nor HITECH Preempt or Repeal FTC Act by 
Implication 

Respondent fails to point to any provision of HIPAA or HITECH that would divest the 

FTC of its unfairness authority over practices affecting consumers’ personal information.3  The 

FTC’s authority to protect consumers from unfair practices predates the enactment of HIPAA 

and HITECH.  Therefore, Congress’s intent to preempt or repeal the FTC’s unfairness authority 

in this regard would have needed to be “clear and manifest.”  Nat’l Assoc. of Home Builders v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644, 662 (2007) (citation omitted).  Neither HIPAA nor 

HITECH contains an express or implied repeal of Section 5, so Respondent’s argument fails. 

HIPAA and HITECH in no way diminish the FTC’s authority to protect consumers’ 

personal information.  Congress enacted HIPAA in 1996 to, among other things, improve “the 

efficiency and effectiveness of the health care system” by establishing “standards and 

requirements for the electronic transmission of certain health information,” including 

                                                 

 

1 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-2(d). 
2 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-5. 
3 The only provision to which Respondent cites, Pub. L. 111-5 § 13422(b)(1) (Resp. Mot. 12) , 
does not appear in the text of the cited statute.  Complaint Counsel presumes that Respondent 
intended to cite Pub. L. 111-5 § 13424, which directs the FTC and HHS to study issues related to 
applying HIPAA’s privacy and security requirements to entities that are not subject to HIPAA.  
Nothing in this or any other statutory provision affects the FTC’s authority to protect consumers 
from unfair practices. 
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requirements to protect the privacy and security of personal health information.  Pub. L. 104–

191, § 261.  To effectuate this intent, Congress gave HHS the authority to conduct APA 

rulemaking and to obtain civil penalties for violations.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-2(d); 42 U.S.C. § 

1320d-5.  HITECH, enacted in 2009, strengthens HIPAA’s privacy and security protections by, 

among other things, widening the scope of entities subject to civil penalties.  See Pub. L. 111-5, 

§§ 13400-11, 123 Stat. 115, 258-276 (2009).  The FTC Act confers general authority to the 

Commission to seek equitable remedies to prevent unfair trade practices that are likely to injure 

consumers.  15 U.S.C. § 45.  Nothing in HIPAA or HITECH conflicts with the FTC’s authority 

in this regard.4  

Respondent seems to argue that the well-established repeal by implication analysis, e.g., 

Kremer v. Chem. Const. Corp., 456 U.S. 461, 468 (1982) (“repeals by implication are not 

favored, . . . and whenever possible, statutes should be read consistently”) (citation omitted), is 

somehow trumped by what it calls “the Billing doctrine.”  Resp. Mot. 13-14.  In Credit Suisse 

Sec. (USA) LLC v. Billing, 551 U.S. 264 (2007), an opinion limited expressly to conflicts 

between the antitrust and securities laws, the Supreme Court held that the securities laws 

implicitly repeal the application of the antitrust laws to “underwriters’ efforts to jointly promote 

and sell newly issued securities” because the securities laws are “clearly incompatible” with the 

application of the antitrust laws in that context.  Id. at 276, 285.  Because this test is limited to 

conflicts between antitrust and securities laws, it is not applicable here.  Rather, the established 

                                                 

 

4 Indeed, Congress enacted HITECH after the Commission had brought a half-dozen unfairness 
cases relating to data security.  See n.9, infra (identifying data security cases alleging unfairness).  
In approving HITECH, Congress could have “clear[ly] and manifest[ly]” limited the 
Commission’s unfairness authority.  Nat’l Assoc. of Home Builders, 551 U.S. at 662 (2007).  It 
did not. 
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law of repeal by implication governs this case.5  Even if the Commission were to apply the 

Billing Court’s analysis to this case, which it should not, Respondent has failed to show that the 

FTC Act’s unfairness authority is “clearly incompatible” with HIPAA and HITECH. 

B. Other Statutes Neither Abrogate FTC Act Nor Suggest a Prior Lack of 
Authority 

In addition to contending that HIPAA and HITECH somehow operate to limit the FTC’s 

jurisdiction, Respondent also advances two arguments that are without support in law or fact: 

(1) that Congress must expressly grant authority to the FTC to pursue particular practices; and 

(2) that Congress has expressly limited the FTC’s authority in this field.  See Resp. Mot. 14-20.  

In fact, Congress has delegated broad authority to the FTC to protect consumers against unfair 

business practices that are likely to injury consumers, and this matter falls squarely within this 

statutory authority. 

1. Complementary Data Security Statutes Give the Commission 
Additional Means of Pursuing Data Security Practices 

The fact that Congress gave the FTC additional tools and methods to pursue data security 

cases does not abrogate Section 5.  Respondent points to several other statutes that provide the 

FTC with authority to pursue data security practices under the FTC Act—namely, the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (“FCRA”), the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”), and the Children’s Online 

Privacy Protection Act (“COPPA”)—and argues that these statutes abrogate Section 5.  Resp. 

Mot. 14-16.  This argument has two fatal flaws:  First, the fundamental purpose of the FTC Act 

is to empower the Commission to protect consumers against unfair or deceptive acts or practices 

                                                 

 

5 The Supreme Court’s opinion in Nat’l Assoc. of Home Builders, which was issued one week 
after the Billing opinion, reiterated the principle that “repeals by implication are not favored and 
will not be presumed unless the intention of the legislature to repeal [is] clear and manifest.” 551 
U.S. at 662 (internal quotation and citation omitted). 
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in the absence of enumerated practices.  Second, the statutes identified by Respondent provide 

the FTC with tools and methods to supplement the Commission’s already-existing authority over 

data security practices. 

a. FTC Act delegates broad power to the Commission. 

The statutory text of the FTC Act confers broad power to the Commission to protect 

consumers from “unfair or deceptive acts or practices.”  15 U.S.C. § 45.  Congress exempted 

from this broad grant of authority enumerated areas of commerce.  See id. § 45(a)(2) (exempting 

banks, common carriers, air carriers, and other industries).  Respondent’s Motion asks the 

Commission to read into its authorizing statute an exemption for data security that does not exist.  

Resp. Mot. 14-20. 

Congress deliberately delegated broad power to the FTC under Section 5 of the FTC Act 

to address unanticipated practices in a changing economy.  See FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 

405 U.S. 233, 239-40 (1972) (“Congress . . . explicitly considered, and rejected, the notion that it 

reduce the ambiguity of the phrase ‘unfair methods of competition’ by tying the concept of 

unfairness to a common-law or statutory standard or by enumerating the particular practices to 

which it was intended to apply”).  The legislative history of the FTC Act reflects Congress’s 

concerns about attempting to enumerate specific acts and practices.  See S. Rep. No. 63-597, at 

13 (1914) (“[t]here were too many unfair practices to define, and after writing 20 of them into 

the law it would be quite possible to invent others”) (attached hereto as Exhibit A); H.R. Rep. 

No. 63-1142, at 19 (1914) (Conf. Rep) (“It is impossible to frame definitions which embrace all 

unfair practices”) (attached hereto as Exhibit B).   

Indeed, while it is true that the statute does not specifically mention data security, it also 

does not mention any of the other established uses of its unfairness authority, including online 

check drafting and delivery (see FTC v. Neovi, Inc., 604 F.3d 1150 (9th Cir. 2010)); sale of 
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telephone records (see FTC v. Accusearch, Inc., 570 F.3d 1187 (10th Cir. 2009)); unilateral 

breach of contracts (see Orkin Exterminating Co. v. FTC, 849 F.2d 1354 (11th Cir. 1988)); 

telephone billing practices (see FTC v. Verity Int’l, 335 F. Supp. 2d 479 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)); 

unsafe farm equipment (see In re Int’l Harvester Co., 104 F.T.C. 949 (1984)); or many other 

practices affecting commerce, all of which courts routinely find to be subject to Section 5 of the 

FTC Act.  Respondent’s argument proves too much:  If the FTC could not act without Congress 

first identifying the practice, the Commission could not have brought these, or any other, 

unfairness actions.   

b. Sector-specific data security laws add new powers. 

Sector-specific data security laws enforced by the FTC provide the agency with tools and 

methods to supplement the Commission’s already-existing authority over data security practices.  

Respondent incorrectly argues that the FTC’s application of the FTC Act renders sector-specific 

laws, like the FCRA, GLBA, and COPPA, superfluous.  Resp. Mot. 14-16.  This argument fails 

for at least two reasons:  First, these statutes do, in fact, provide tools for the FTC.  For example, 

all three provide for APA rulemaking authority,6 and the FCRA and COPPA also permit the FTC 

to pursue civil penalties, not just equitable relief.7  Second, all three statutes permit the FTC to 

bring actions irrespective of substantial consumer injury.8  

Respondent anticipates the argument that the FCRA, GLBA, and COPPA are different 

because they provide additional tools, such as civil penalties or rulemaking authority, but it 

                                                 

 

6 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a)(1) (FCRA); 15 U.S.C. § 6804(a)(1) (GLBA); 15 U.S.C. § 6502(b) 
(COPPA). 
7 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a)(2) (FCRA); 15 U.S.C. § 6505(d), 15 U.S.C. § 45(m)(1)(a) (COPPA). 
8 See 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a) (FCRA); 15 U.S.C. §§ 6801(b), 6805(a)(7) (GLBA); 15 U.S.C. § 
6505(d) (COPPA).  
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claims this argument “fails, for these statutes explicitly authorize the Commission to set 

substantive standards and to enforce those standards under the FTCA.”  Resp. Mot. 15 (citations 

omitted).  Respondent’s counterargument does not grasp the significance of civil penalties:  

When the FTC enforces the FTC Act alone, it can seek only equitable relief.  15 U.S.C. § 45(b).  

By contrast, when the FTC enforces the FCRA or COPPA, substantial civil penalties are 

available.  See, e.g., United States v. Choicepoint, No. 06-0198 (N.D. Ga. Feb 15, 2006), 

Stipulated Final Judgment and Order for Civil Penalties, Permanent Injunction, and Other 

Equitable Relief, at 4 (ordering, in an FCRA matter relating to data security practices, payment 

of civil penalty of $10,000,000 pursuant to Section 621 of the FCRA, as enforced under 

Section 5 of the FTC Act); United States v. Path, Inc., No. 13-0448 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 8, 2013), 

Consent Decree and Order for Civil Penalties, Permanent Injunction and Other Relief, at 11 

(ordering, in a COPPA matter relating to the collection of personal information through mobile 

devices, payment of a civil penalty of $800,000, pursuant to Sections 1303(c) and 1306(d) of 

COPPA, as enforced under Section 5 of the FTC Act).  Thus, even though, as Respondent 

correctly notes, rule violations are enforced as “an unfair or deceptive act or practice in 

commerce, in violation of section 5(a),” significant additional remedies are available under the 

FCRA and COPPA. 

The fact that violations of the FCRA, GLBA, and COPPA also constitute violations of 

Section 5 is significant because it permits the FTC to bring an action without having to establish 

deception or likelihood of substantial injury under 15 U.S.C. § 45(n).  By omitting the likelihood 

of substantial injury requirement for credit reporting agencies (FCRA), financial institutions 

(GLBA), and companies that handle children’s data (COPPA), Congress enhanced the FTC’s 

ability to bring data security actions against companies in specific sectors, or who trade in 
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specific types of information.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a) (FCRA); 15 U.S.C. §§ 6801(b), 

6805(a)(7) (GLBA); 15 U.S.C. § 6505(d) (COPPA).   

2. The Commission Has Consistently Maintained Its Authority to 
Protect Consumers from Unfair Practices Affecting Consumers’ 
Sensitive Personal Information  

The FTC has consistently maintained its authority to protect consumers from unfair 

practices affecting consumers’ sensitive personal information.   A contrary conclusion requires a 

tortured application of FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120 (2000).  Resp. 

Mot. 16-20.  In that case, the Supreme Court rejected the Food and Drug Administration’s 

(“FDA”) assertion of authority over tobacco because a decades-old comprehensive regulatory 

regime, which had developed against the backdrop of the FDA’s persistent denial that it 

possessed such authority, irreconcilably conflicted with the FDA’s reversal of its position.  529 

U.S. at 137, 159-60.  This case has none of the hallmarks of Brown & Williamson. 

a. The Commission has never disclaimed its authority. 

Since 2000, the FTC has brought nearly fifty data security cases, more than eighteen of 

which alleged that unreasonable security is an unfair act or practice.9  The FTC has routinely 

                                                 

 

9 The unfairness cases include: In re TRENDnet, Inc., FTC File No. 122 3090 (Sept. 4, 2013) 
(consent order approved for public comment); In re HTC America Inc., FTC Docket No. C-4406, 
FTC File No. 122-3049 (June 25, 2013) (consent order); In re Compete, Inc., FTC Docket No. C-
4384, FTC File No. 102-3155 (Feb. 20, 2013) (consent order); In re EPN, Inc., FTC Docket No. 
C-4370, FTC File No. 112-3143 (Oct. 3, 2012) (consent order); FTC v. Wyndham Worldwide 
Corp., No. 2:13-CV-01887 (D.N.J.) (pending litigation); In re Upromise, Inc., FTC Docket No. 
C-4351, FTC File No. 102-3116 (Mar. 27, 2012) (consent order); In re Lookout Servs., Inc., FTC 
Docket No. C-4326, FTC File No. 102-3076 (June 15, 2011) (consent order); In re Ceridian 
Corp., FTC Docket No. C-4325, FTC File No. 102-3160 (June 8, 2011) (consent order); In re 
Rite Aid Corp., FTC Docket No. C-4308, FTC File No. 072-3121 (Nov. 12, 2010 (consent 
order); In re Dave & Buster’s, Inc., FTC Docket No. C-4291, FTC File No. 082-3153 (May 20, 
2010) (consent order); United States v. Rental Research Servs., No. 0:09-CV-00524 (D. Minn. 
Mar. 6, 2009) (stipulated order); In re CVS Caremark Corp., FTC Docket No. C-4259, FTC File 
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reported and publicized its data security program, including these enforcement activities, to 

Congress, consumers, and industry.10  See, e.g., Identity Theft: Innovative Solutions for an 

Evolving Problem:  Hearing before the Subcomm. on Terrorism, Technology, and Homeland 

Security of the S. Comm. on the Judiciary, 110th Cong. at 5-6 (Mar. 21, 2007) (Prepared 

Statement of the Federal Trade Commission) (“[I]n several of the cases, the alleged security 

inadequacies led to breaches that caused substantial consumer injury and were challenged as 

unfair practices under the FTC Act”).  The FTC has never disclaimed its authority over data 

security practices. 

b. The Commission’s requests for additional authority do not 
constitute disclaimers. 

The FTC’s requests for additional authority showcase the reach of the FTC’s unfairness 

authority.  For example, in testimony cited in Respondent’s Motion (Resp. Mot. 17 n.13), former 

Director of the Bureau of Consumer Protection, David C. Vladeck, explained:   

[T]he Commission enforces the FTC Act’s proscription against 
unfair or deceptive acts or practices in cases where a business 

                                                                                                                                                             

 

No. 072-3119 (Jun. 18, 2009) (consent order); In re The TJX Cos., FTC Docket No. C-4227, 
FTC File No. 072-3055 (July 29, 2008) (consent order); In re Reed Elsevier Inc., FTC File No. 
052-3094 (July 29, 2008) (consent order); In re CardSystems Solutions, Inc., FTC Docket No. C-
4168, FTC File No. 052-3148 (Sept. 5, 2006) (consent order); In re DSW, Inc., FTC Docket No. 
C-4157, FTC File No. 052-3096 (Mar. 7, 2006) (consent order); United States v. ChoicePoint, 
Inc., FTC File No. 052-3069, No. 06-CV-0198 (N.D. Ga. Jan. 30, 2006) (stipulated final 
judgment); In re BJ’s Wholesale Club, Inc., FTC Docket No. C-4148, FTC File No. 042-3160 
(Sept. 20, 2005) (consent order). 
10 The FTC has never suggested that its unfairness authority does not apply where these practices 
cause substantial injury.  For example, Respondent quotes the testimony of former 
Commissioner Orson Swindle (Resp. Mot. 16-17 n.12), but omits the footnote to that very same 
sentence, which reads:  “The Commission also has authority to challenge practices as unfair if 
they cause consumers substantial injury that is neither reasonably avoidable nor offset by 
countervailing benefits.”  Protecting Information Security and Preventing Identity Theft: 
Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Tech., Info. Policy, Intergovernmental Relations, and the 
Census of the H. Comm. on Gov’t Reform, 108th Cong. (Sep. 22, 2004) (emphasis added). 
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makes false or misleading claims about its data security 
procedures, or where its failure to employ reasonable security 
measures causes or is likely to cause substantial consumer injury. 

The Threat of Data Theft to American Consumers: Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Commerce, 

Mfg., and Trade of the H. Comm. on Energy and Commerce, 112th Cong. 2 (May 4, 2011) 

(emphasis added).  The FTC’s requests for additional authority cannot be construed as 

admissions of a prior lack of authority. 

Even if the FTC had originally disavowed its authority, which it did not, that fact would 

not be controlling.  See Smiley v. Citibank, 517 U.S. 735, 742 (1996) (“[T]he mere fact that an 

agency interpretation contradicts a prior agency position is not fatal”).  Unlike Brown & 

Williamson, where the FDA disavowed its authority to regulate tobacco for more than 70 years 

(529 U.S. at 159), here Respondent misinterprets a few isolated statements to claim disavowal. 

c. Proposed legislation, if relevant at all, supports the Commission’s 
authority. 

While Congress has proposed a number of legislative initiatives relating to data security, 

the circumstances of the Congressional debate regarding data security affirm the FTC’s authority 

in this area.  For example, four of the data security bills Respondent cites in support of its 

argument included savings clauses to preserve the FTC’s existing data security authority.  See S. 

1207, 112th Cong. § 6(d) (1st Sess. 2011); H.R. 2577, 112 Cong. § 6(d) (1st Sess. 2011); H.R. 

1841, 112 Cong. § 6(d) (1st Sess. 2011); H.R. 1707, 112 Cong. § 6(d) (1st Sess. 2011).  

Preservation clauses would be unnecessary if the FTC lacked existing authority.11  Thus, there is 

                                                 

 

11 Similarly, Chairman John D. (Jay) Rockefeller, who co-sponsored Senate Bill 1207, asked an 
FTC representative:  “Can you talk about how Senator Pryor’s and my bill will complement your 
existing enforcement efforts?”  Privacy and Data Security:  Protecting Consumers in the 
Modern World:  Hearing on S.B. 1207 Before the S. Comm. on Commerce, Science, and 
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no support for Respondent’s argument that by proposing legislation, Congress somehow believes 

the FTC lacks unfairness authority over practices affecting consumers’ personal information.  

Resp. Mot. 17-18. 

d. Caselaw supports the Commission’s position. 

To the extent that Respondent’s strained interpretation of Brown v. Williamson may be 

applicable, which it is not, the Supreme Court’s subsequent holding in Massachusetts v. EPA 

requires that the Commission reject Respondent’s argument.  549 U.S. 497, 531-32 (2007).  In 

EPA, faced with states petitioning the Environmental Protection Agency to regulate greenhouse 

gases under the Clean Air Act (“CAA”), the Court rejected the EPA’s efforts to make the same 

claims that Respondent makes in this action:  that Congress did not contemplate greenhouse 

gases as a pollutant when it passed the CAA, id. at 512; that later Congressional action 

contemplated other mechanisms to address greenhouse gases, id.; that the classification of carbon 

dioxide would create overlapping regulatory jurisdiction between the EPA and the Department of 

Transportation, id. at 513; and that the interpretation of pollutant to carbon dioxide had vast 

“economic and political consequences” that were far too significant to impute to Congress 

without an express delegation, id. at 512. 

The Court held that greenhouse gases “fit well within” the relevant statutory definition 

and, that short of an “extreme” result that “clashed with . . . ‘common sense[,]’” the agency 

should regulate the gases under the Act.  Id. at 531-32.  The Court also explained that the EPA, 

like Respondent in this matter, had “not identified any Congressional action that conflicts in any 

way” with the contested interpretation.  Id.  Finally, the Court dismissed the notion that 

                                                                                                                                                             

 

Transportation, 112th Cong. 32 (June 29, 2011) (emphasis added). 
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overlapping jurisdiction between the Department of Transportation and the EPA was somehow 

improper:  “The two obligations may overlap, but there is no reason to think the two agencies 

cannot both administer their obligations and yet avoid inconsistency.”  Id. at 532.   

Here, Respondent is unable to point to any “extreme” result stemming from the 

Commission proceeding with its administrative action in this case or in any other data security 

case.  Accordingly, the FTC’s exercise of its unfairness authority regarding unreasonable data 

security practices is appropriate, and Respondent’s argument fails. 

C. The Commission’s Attempt to Extend GLBA Authority to Attorneys is 
Irrelevant to the Commission’s Ability to Protect Consumers from Unfair 
Practices Affecting Consumers’ Sensitive Personal Information 

Respondent’s reliance on American Bar Ass’n v. FTC, 430 F.3d 457 (D.C. Cir. 2005) is 

misplaced.  Resp. Mot. 20.  In ABA, the FTC had construed the GLBA’s defined term “financial 

institution” to include attorneys engaged in the practice of law, an interpretation that the court 

found contrary to the meaning of the term.  Id. at 470-71.  In contrast, here, there is no debate 

about the meaning of the term “unfairness.”  15 U.S.C. § 45(n).  Congress established a specific 

test to determine whether a practice is unfair, and the Complaint pleads facts sufficient to state a 

claim that the practices at issue meet the statutory test for unfairness.  Unlike in ABA, The 

Commission’s authority to bring this case rests not on its own interpretation of a statutory term, 

but instead on the application of well-pled facts to the unambiguous unfairness test enacted by 

Congress.   

II. FTC ACT PROVIDES SUFFICIENT NOTICE OF BUSINESSES’ OBLIGATIONS  

If the Commission were to hold that it may not apply its unfairness authority to LabMD’s 

conduct because the Commission somehow failed to provide Respondent with sufficient notice 

of what constitutes unfairness, it would vitiate many of the Commission’s consumer protection 

unfairness actions.  Whenever the Commission brings an unfairness case, it provides the same 
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notice:  The notice provided by the statute.  15 U.S.C. § 45(n).  Neither the Commission nor any 

court has ever found that Section 5’s definition of unfairness fails to provide sufficient notice.  

A. LabMD Has Fair Notice of the Commission’s Reasonableness Standard 

The codification of unfairness established a cost-benefit analysis to evaluate unfair 

practices.  15 U.S.C. § 45(n) (requiring evaluation of the likelihood of “substantial injury” and of 

“countervailing benefits”); J. Howard Beales, III, Director, Bureau of Consumer Protection, 

Federal Trade Comm’n Remarks at the Marketing and Public Policy Conference: The FTC’s Use 

of Unfairness Authority:  Its Rise, Fall, and Resurrection (May 30, 2003) (“[C]odification of 

those principles in 1994 re-established a cost/benefit analysis (injury to consumers not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits) as the test for unfairness”).   

In order to avoid unfair practices that violate Section 5 of the FTC Act, a company must 

first determine whether its practices cause or are likely to cause substantial injury to consumers 

that is not reasonably avoidable.  15 U.S.C. § 45(n).  If a company’s practices are likely to cause 

consumer injury, Section 5 requires the company to employ measures to prevent the injury when 

the injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  Id.  In 

other words, a company must employ reasonable measures to prevent consumer injury that its 

practices would otherwise likely cause.  See id. 

Applying this Section 5 analysis to a company that maintains consumers’ sensitive 

personal information, the unauthorized disclosure of which would cause substantial consumer 

injury, the company must assess whether its security practices are likely to result in the 

unauthorized disclosure of consumers’ personal information.  Section 5 requires that the 

company employ data security measures that would prevent the injury when the injury is not 

outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  In other words, the 

company must employ reasonable data security practices designed to prevent consumer injury 
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that its practices would otherwise likely cause.   

The FTC has expressly applied this test in data security matters to require “reasonable 

and appropriate” practices.  See n.9, supra. Through the statute and FTC enforcement actions 

applying the statutory elements of unfairness, Respondent has ample notice of the requirement to 

employ reasonable, cost-effective data security practices to avoid the likelihood of substantial 

injury. 

B. Reasonableness Standard Is Unremarkable and Applied in a Variety of 
Contexts 

It is difficult to reconcile Respondent’s argument that the standard of reasonableness 

based on Section 5’s definition of unfair practices is “vague” (Resp. Mot. 23) and “meaningless” 

(id. 24) with the hundreds of years of Anglo-American jurisprudence predicated on the premise 

that standards of care are legitimate methods for evaluating parties’ legal liabilities.  

Reasonableness provides adequate notice as to how regulated entities must behave.  Data 

security practices are not exceptional in the field of jurisprudence nor somehow immune to an 

ordinary cost-benefit analysis. 

1. Reasonableness Standard is Not Vague  

Courts routinely find statutes and regulations premised on objective standards of care, 

such as reasonableness, to provide fair notice, including in contexts in which the relief available 

far exceeds the equitable relief available in an FTC action.  For example, in criminal actions 

against physicians for illegally prescribing narcotics, the standard is “whether the physician 

prescribes medicine ‘in accordance with a standard of medical practice generally recognized and 

accepted in the United States.’”  United States v. Merrill, 513 F.3d 1293, 1306 (11th Cir. 2008) 

(citation omitted).  In General Duty Clause actions under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 

(“OSHA”), “reasonableness” has been found to be an objective standard that provides regulated 
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entities with fair notice.12  Voegele Co., Inc. v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm’n, 

625 F.2d 1075, 1078-79 (3d Cir. 1980).  Finally, even in tort actions for negligent data security 

practices, where plaintiffs can seek punitive damages, courts rely on the “reasonable and prudent 

person” under the circumstances standard.  In re Zappos.com, Inc., No. 12-00325, 2013 WL 

4830497, at *3-4 (D. Nev. Sept. 9, 2013) (“Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that Zappos 

negligently failed to protect Plaintiffs’ private data from electronic theft with sufficient electronic 

safeguards.  Plaintiffs need not rely on any special duty of care.  In the context of a simple 

negligence claim, Zappos owed Plaintiffs the duty of care owed by all persons to all other 

persons as a general matter: the duty to act as a reasonable and prudent person under the same or 

similar circumstances”); see also Loschiavo v. City of Dearborn, 33 F.3d 548, 552-53 (6th Cir. 

1994) (“A regulation is not rendered impermissibly vague simply because it calls for a judicial 

determination of ‘reasonableness’”). 

In an FTC context analogous to the Complaint’s allegations here, a court in the Northern 

District of Georgia rejected a defendant’s assertion that the term “substantiation” was 

unconstitutionally vague for the purpose of deception actions under Section 5: 

[The] definition [of substantiation] is context specific and permits 
different variations on “competent and reliable scientific evidence” 
depending on what pertinent professionals would require for the 
particular claim made.  Thus, the size, duration or protocol of a 
scientific study, the number or type of scientific studies required to 
substantiate a claim, and the proper mechanism for extrapolating 

                                                 

 

12  The enforcement of OSHA’s General Duty Clause in Department of Labor administrative 
courts may provide the best analogy to a data security administrative hearing under Section 5 of 
the FTC Act.  See, e.g., Fabi Construction Co. v. Secretary of Labor, 508 F.3d 1077, 1088 (D.C. 
Cir. 2007) (considering a number of factors to determine whether defendant met its “general 
duty,” including whether defendant followed third-party technical drawings, whether defendant 
complied with industry standards, and expert opinion). 
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results from studies will obviously vary from circumstance to 
circumstance depending upon the expert evidence presented.  
However, the standard by which these issues of fact are resolved is 
clear, and an advertiser can be reasonably certain of what 
substantiation will be required by conferring with appropriate 
professionals or experts.  The fact that different scientific evidence 
is required for different claims impacting different products does 
not mean that the FTC can enforce its act arbitrarily; instead, it 
simply means that different claims require different substantiation.  
As Judge Dimock wrote in his concurring opinion in United States 
v. Shackney, 333 F.2d 475, 488 (2d Cir. 1964), “Statutes are 
not . . . void for vagueness because they raise difficult questions of 
fact.  They are void for vagueness only where they fail to articulate 
a definite standard.”  Here the FTC has articulated a definite 
standard; accordingly, the issues of fact that it generates do not 
render it unconstitutionally vague. 

FTC v. Nat'l Urological Grp., Inc., 645 F. Supp. 2d 1167, 1186-87 (N.D. Ga. 2008) (emphasis 

supplied), aff’d, 356 F. App’x 358 (11th Cir. 2009).  Similarly, the FTC has articulated a definite 

standard for companies’ data security practices:  Section 5 demands that a company act when the 

likelihood of consumer injury resulting from its poor data security practices is not outweighed by 

countervailing benefits of forgoing improved security practices. 

Respondent’s demand for “ascertainable certainty” is a red herring.  Resp. Mot. 23.  First, 

as described in Part II.A, LabMD and similarly situated companies do know, with ascertainable 

certainty, that reasonableness is the standard for enforcement of Section 5 of the FTC Act.  

Second, ascertainable certainty does not require agencies to provide prescriptive guidance at the 

level of detail that Respondent seems to think appropriate.  See, e.g., United States v. Lachman, 

387 F.3d 42, 56-7 (1st Cir. 2004) (“The mere fact that a statute or regulation requires 

interpretation does not render it unconstitutionally vague”).  The FTC has been consistent and 

clear about how it enforces Section 5 of the FTC Act against companies for their business 

practices related to the security of consumer data and, as a result, Respondent has received fair 

notice. 
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2. Reasonableness in Data Security is No More Complicated Than 
Reasonableness in Any Other Field 

Data security practices are not immune from cost-benefit analyses.  Section 5 requires 

evaluating potential injury, the likelihood of that injury, and the cost of taking precautions to 

prevent that injury.  It is no more challenging to apply that balancing test in the context of 

companies’ data security practices than it is in the context of companies’ duties of care related to 

other business practices.  Indeed, negligence law already imposes the same standard of care, 

including for data security practices.  See Zappos, 2013 WL 4830497, at *3.    

As with the application of the reasonableness standard of care in any other circumstance, 

what constitutes reasonable data security practices for a company that maintains consumers’ 

sensitive personal information will vary depending on the facts of the case and a company’s 

circumstances.  This analysis includes: the sensitivity of the information the company handles 

(going to the magnitude of injury from unauthorized access to information); the nature and scope 

of the firm’s activities (going to the structure of the firm’s network, how the network operates, 

the types of security vulnerabilities and risks it faces, and feasible protections); and the firm’s 

size and complexity (going to, among other things, the cost of implementing feasible 

protections).  

Companies maintaining sensitive personal information have robust guidance available to 

assess whether their data security practices are reasonable under their circumstances.  Companies 

may review FTC complaints and consent decrees, which concern fundamental security elements, 

including: conducting risk assessments to identify reasonably foreseeable risks; assessing the 

effectiveness of existing security measures and adopting additional measures in light thereof; 

testing and monitoring security measures for effectiveness; and adjusting the measures 

appropriately.  For example, the complaints in a number of FTC actions allege that the 
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respondent failed to conduct adequate risk assessments and, as a result, failed to adopt easily 

implemented measures to address reasonably foreseeable risks that an appropriate risk 

assessment would have revealed.13  The consent decrees approved by the Commission impose 

the same substantive relief:  The Commission requires respondents to implement a 

comprehensive information security program that includes and reflects these same basic security 

elements.14  These security elements are well known in the information technology field, and are 

regularly and routinely published in training and continuing education materials for network 

administrators and in free information technology materials.15  Similarly, the SANS Institute has 

                                                 

 

13 See, e.g., In re Card Systems, Inc., FTC File No. 052-3148, Compl. ¶ 6(2) (Feb. 23, 2006) 
(proposed complaint approved by Commission); In re Reed Elsevier Inc., FTC File No. 052-
3094, Compl. ¶ 10(h) (March 27, 2008) (proposed complaint approved by Commission). 
14 See, e.g., In re The TJX Cos., FTC Docket No. C-4227, FTC File No. 072-3055 (July 29, 
2008) (consent order) (requiring TJX to implement a written information security program; 
designate an employee accountable for its information security program; to identify risks; to 
design and implement safeguards to address risks; to only retain service providers capable of 
providing adequate safeguards; and evaluate and adjust the program regularly). 
15 Since 1990, NIST has published and updated a series of Special Publications (“SP-800”) on 
information security topics.  See, e.g., NIST Special Publication 800-12, An Introduction to 
Computer Security: The NIST Handbook (Oct. 1995), available at 
http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-12/800-12-html/; NIST Special Publication 800-30, 
Risk Management Guide for Information Technology Systems (July 2002; updated September 
2012), available at http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-30/sp800-30.pdf and 
http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-30-rev1/sp800_30_r1.pdf.  Although prepared for 
government computer systems, these publications also provide guidance to the private sector.  
For example, HHS published guidance to entities subject to HIPAA, such as LabMD, that 
incorporates content from NIST Special Publications.  See, e.g., Department of Health and 
Human Services, HIPAA Security Series 6: Basics of Risk Analysis and Risk Management (June 
2005, revised March 2007) at 3, available at 
http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/privacy/hipaa/administrative/securityrule/riskassessment.pdf (although 
the HIPAA “Security Rule does not prescribe a specific risk analysis or risk management 
methodology” or require covered entities to follow NIST documents, “much of the content” of 
HIPAA Security Series 6 “is adapted from government sources such as the NIST 800 Series of 
Special Publications, specifically SP-800-30 – Risk Management Guide for Information 
Technology Systems”). 
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since 2001 annually published and updated a free, easily accessible compilation of the most 

critical security vulnerabilities confronting firms, security professionals, and law enforcement.  

See, e.g., SANS Institute, The Top 20 Most Critical Internet Security Vulnerabilities (Updated) 

(November 2005), available at https://files.sans.org/top20/top20_2005.pdf (identifying file 

sharing applications as a critical vulnerability).  The compilation includes reference materials, 

information about new vulnerabilities, security measures that companies may use to defend 

against attacks, and links to free security tools. 

The FTC has pleaded, and will prove at trial, that based on these widely known and 

readily available resources, the measures LabMD employed to prevent unauthorized access to 

consumers’ personal information fell well short of the reasonableness standard of care.  That is, 

LabMD’s practices created a likelihood of substantial consumer injury that was not outweighed 

by countervailing benefits of forgoing improved security practices. 

C. FTC Is Not Obligated to Proceed by Rulemaking 

The FTC is not obligated to engage in rulemaking to enforce the FTC Act.  The FTC’s 

decision to enforce the FTC Act’s prohibition of unfair practices through individual enforcement 

action, or adjudication, rather than rulemaking “lies [within its] informed discretion.”  PBW 

Stock Exch., Inc. v. SEC, 485 F.2d 718, 732 (3d Cir. 1973) (“The courts have consistently held 

that where an agency, as in this case, is given an option to proceed by rulemaking or by 

individual adjudication the choice is one that lies in the informed discretion of the administrative 

agency”) (citing NLRB v. Wyman-Gordon Co., 394 U.S. 759, 772 (1969); SEC v. Chenery Corp., 

332 U.S. 194, 203 (1947)).  “If the agency affords the party a ‘full opportunity to be heard before 

the [agency] makes its determination’ [NLRB v. Bell Aerospace Co., 416 U.S. 267, 295 (1974)], 

we cannot second-guess the agency decision whether to interpret a standard by rulemaking or by 

adjudication. [Chenery, 332 U.S. at 203].”  Beazer E., Inc. v. EPA, 963 F.2d 603, 609-10 (3d Cir. 
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1992). 

Proceeding through case-by-case adjudication of data security matters is appropriate 

because the cost-benefit analysis of reasonableness is necessarily a fact-driven inquiry.  Certain 

fields are “so specialized and varying in nature as to be impossible of capture within the 

boundaries of a general rule.”  Chenery, 332 U.S. at 203.  The Supreme Court articulated the 

importance of case-by-case adjudication in similar circumstances: 

[The National Labor Relations Board] is not precluded from 
announcing new principles in an adjudicative proceeding and that 
the choice between rulemaking and adjudication lies in the first 
instance within the Board’s discretion.  Although there may be 
situations where the Board’s reliance on adjudication would 
amount to an abuse of discretion or a violation of the Act, nothing 
in the present case would justify such a conclusion.  Indeed, there 
is ample indication that adjudication is especially appropriate in 
the instant context.  As the Court of Appeals noted, “(t)here must 
be tens of thousands of manufacturing, wholesale and retail units 
which employ buyers, and hundreds of thousands of the latter.” 
[Bell Aerospace v. NLRB, 475 F.2d 485, 496 (2d Cir. 1973)].  
Moreover, duties of buyers vary widely depending on the company 
or industry.  It is doubtful whether any generalized standard could 
be framed which would have more than marginal utility. 

Bell Aerospace, 416 U.S. at 294 (permitting NLRB to evaluate the definition of “managerial 

employees” for the purpose of collective bargaining on a case-by-case basis). 

III. LABMD’S ACTS AND PRACTICES AFFECT INTERSTATE COMMERCE 

Section 5 of the FTC Act prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting 

commerce.”  15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  The act defines “Commerce” as, inter alia, “commerce among 

the several States.”  Id. § 44.  This definition captures Respondent’s business practices, as they 

are alleged to include testing of “specimen samples from consumers and reporting test results to 

consumers’ health care providers” and the consumers are “located throughout the United States.”  

Compl. ¶¶ 1-5.  See P.F. Collier & Son Corp. v. FTC, 427 F.2d 261, 271 (6th Cir. 1970) (holding 

that the nationwide scope of operations imparted the requisite interstate character).  Accordingly, 



 

25 
 

Respondent’s suggestion that its practices do not affect interstate commerce is specious. 

IV. COMPLAINT COMPLIES WITH PLEADING REQUIREMENTS 

The pleading standard articulated in Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 

(2007), and Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009), is inapplicable to complaints filed 

before the Federal Trade Commission’s Office of the Administrative Law Judges.16  Cf. 16 

C.F.R. § 3.11(b)(2) (“The Commission’s complaint shall contain . . . [a] clear and concise factual 

statement sufficient to inform each respondent with reasonable definiteness of the type of acts or 

practices alleged to be in violation of the law . . . .”).  Even if the Twombly/Iqbal standard were 

applicable, the Complaint alleges facts sufficient to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 663 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). 

V. MATTER SHOULD NOT BE STAYED 

The Commission should deny Respondent’s request that these proceedings be stayed.  

Commission Rule 3.22(b) provides that, absent an order, “[a] motion under consideration shall 

not stay the proceedings before the Administrative Law Judge . . . .” 16 C.F.R. § 3.22(b).  In 

promulgating the Rules of Practice applicable in this matter, the Commission stated that the 

                                                 

 

16 See In re Egan-Jones Ratings Co., Exchange Act Release No. APR-716, 2012 WL 8718369, at 
*2 (ALJ Aug. 8, 2012) (rejecting Twombly application to affirmative defenses because 
Commission’s pleading rules only require sufficient detail “as will permit a specific response 
thereto”); United States v. Mar-Jac Poultry, Inc., 10 OCAHO 1148, 2012 WL 2950407, at *8 
(Dep’t of Justice Mar. 15, 2012) (rejecting Twombly pleading, reasoning prior administrative 
process provides notice); United States v. Split Rail Fence Co., 10 OCAHO 1181, 2013 WL 
2154637, at *4 (Dep’t of Justice May 13, 2013) (distinguishing agency’s rules from Twombly 
because they lack “entitlement to relief” requirement); Evans v. EPA, ARB Case No. 08-059, 
2012 WL 3164358, at *4 (Dep’t of Labor Admin. Review Bd. July 31, 2012).  But cf., e.g., In re 
Hanson’s Window & Construction, Inc., 2010 WL 5093890, at *3 (EPA ALJ Dec. 1, 2010) 
(applying Twombly where agency explicitly supplements its rules with Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure); Totes-Isotoner Corp. v. United States, 569 F. Supp. 2d 1315, 1325-26 (Ct. Int’l 
Trade 2008) (applying Twombly where agency’s pleading rules are identical to Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure). 
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purpose of Rule 3.22(b) “was to ensure that discovery and other prehearing proceedings continue 

while the Commission deliberates over” dispositive motions, such as Respondent’s Motion to 

Dismiss.  Fed. Trade Comm’n Rules and Regulations, 16 C.F.R. Parts 3 and 4, 74 Fed. Reg. 

1804, 1810 (Jan. 13, 2010).   Indeed, the Commission anticipated that the amended Rules of 

Practice would “expedite cases by providing that proceedings before the ALJ [would] not be 

stayed while the Commission considers a motion . . . .”  Fed. Trade Comm’n Rules of Practice, 

16 C.F.R. Parts 3 and 4, 73 Fed. Reg. 58,832, 58,836 (Oct. 7, 2008).   Except to rehash 

arguments pending before the Administrative Law Judge regarding Complaint Counsel’s 

ordinary, third-party discovery, Respondent has provided no rationale that could possibly justify 

a stay pending determination of this Motion.  Accordingly, the Commission should deny 

Respondent’s request to stay the proceedings pending resolution of its Motion.   
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